Statement of Jurisdiction

This is an appeal from a February 14, 2023 final order, of Judge Shana Frost Matini, J.A. 4-12, denying the appeal of the American Federation of Government Employees, AFL-CIO Local 872 (Local 872), from the decision of the D.C. Public Employee Relations Board, (PERB) in *American Federation of Government Employees, AFL-CIO Local 872 v. D.C. Water and Sewer Authority,* PERB Case No. 22-I-02, PERB Opinion No. 1811, J.A. 13-6. All matters before the Superior Court were disposed of by the February 14, 2023 Order.

Statement of Issues

- 1. Whether the court committed an error of law, in affirming the opinion of PERB, which held the COVID-19 Emergency Response Amendment Act (COVID-19 Emergency Act) amended D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) of the Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act (CMPA)
 - (a) Whether the District of Columbia Water and Sewer Authority
 (Authority) had the authority to unilaterally implement, without
 bargaining with Local 872, return to work procedures and vaccination
 requirements.
- 2. Whether the court erred in ruling the issues, of the authority to impose a vaccination requirement and the expiration of the coronavirus emergency, had not been raised before PERB.

3. Whether the court committed an error of law in ruling PERB had correctly applied the CMPA in ruling the issues raised in the impasse petition were non-negotiable.

Statement of the Case

This is an appeal of the February 14, 2023, order of Judge Shana Frost Matini affirming PERB *Opinion No.* 1811 granting the Authority the right to, unilaterally, impose return to work procedures and vaccination requirements, based upon the COVID-19 Emergency Act and D.C. Code § 1-617.08(6) of the CMPA, without bargaining with Local 872. The February 14, 2023 order held the COVID-19 Emergency Act modified D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6), of the CMPA, and the Authority was authorized to take whatever actions were necessary to carry out operations, without bargaining with Local 872 J.A. 8, 11. Judge Matini ruled Local 872 did not raise, before PERB, the issues of whether the vaccination requirement violated the law and whether the emergency authority granted under the COVID-19 Emergency Act had expired, J.A. 8-9. Judge Matini ruled PERB's decision, that the issues in Local 872's petition were non-negotiable, was reasonable and consistent with the law, J.A. 10-1.

On October 15, 2021, Local 872 filed an expedited impasse resolution petition before PERB, J.A. 95. On October 26, 2021, PERB's Executive Director issued a letter, declaring Local 872 and the Authority were at impasse and referred the

parties to mediation, J.A. 132. On November 16, 2021, Local 872 requested PERB refer the parties to interest arbitration, J.A. 72. On December 7, 2021, the Authority filed a motion to dismiss Local 872's request for referral to arbitration, J.A. 73. On January 13, 2022, PERB's Executive Director, administratively, dismissed Local 872's impasse request stating the work requirements and vaccination requirements were non-negotiable and the Authority did not have to bargain, with Local 872, J.A. 82-3.

On January 22, 2022, Local 872 filed a motion to reconsider the Executive Director's administrative dismissal, J.A. 84-9.

On April 29, 2022, PERB issued a decision affirming the administrative dismissal and ruling the COVID-19 Emergency Act and D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) authorized the implementation of the work procedures and vaccination requirements, without bargaining with Local 872, J.A. 14-5.

Statement of Facts

On October 15, 2021, Local 872 filed the "Union's Request for Expedited Impasse Resolution," with PERB, stating Local 872 and the Authority had reached an impasse in negotiations, over the subjects of return to the worksite, during the coronavirus pandemic and coronavirus vaccination J.A. 95-103. On October 26, 2021, PERB's Executive Director issued a letter finding the parties were at impasse and referred the parties to mediation, J.A. 132. On November 16, 2021, Local 872

filed a request for expedited interest arbitration, J.A. 72. On December 6, 2021, the Authority filed a motion to dismiss Local 872's request for interest arbitration, alleging impasse had not been reached on any negotiable terms, based on PERB Rule 527, J.A. 74-8. On December 21, 2021, Local 872 responded to the Authority's motion stating, the Authority had not declared any subjects nonnegotiable during negotiations; the Authority agreed the parties were at impasse; and PERB rules require a declaration of negotiability be made in writing, during negotiations and prior to an impasse determination, J.A. 79-81.

On January 13, 2022, the Executive Director, administratively, dismissed Local 872's impasse case, stating the COVID-19 Emergency Act and D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) permitted the Authority to unilaterally implement the coronavirus work requirements and the coronavirus vaccination requirements, without bargaining with Local 872, J.A. 82-3. The Executive Director's dismissal ruled the subjects of return to work and coronavirus vaccination were non-negotiable subjects of bargaining based upon the decision in *D.C. Office of Labor Relations and Collective Bargaining v. D.C. Public Employee Relations Board*, No. 003086 P(MPA) (D.C. Super. Ct. September 29, 2021), J.A. 83.

On January 25, 2022, Local 872 filed a motion, with PERB requesting reconsideration of the Executive Director's dismissal, stating the dismissal was contrary to PERB Rule 532, which required a written declaration of negotiability

during negotiations; the dismissal was contrary to PERB's precedent on management rights; the dismissal, in error, applied the COVID-19 Emergency Act to the Authority; the COVID-19 Emergency Act, D.C. Code § 7-2304(b)(16) could not be applied, because the public emergency was ended on July 25, 2021, J.A. 84-9.

On July 24, 2021, the Mayor issued Executive Order 2021-096 ending the public health emergency, on July 25, 2021, *Addendum*.

On April 29, 2022, PERB issued Opinion 1811, affirming the Executive Director's dismissal, stating the COVID-19 Emergency Act and D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) gave the Authority, an independent agency, the right to implement a management right, without bargaining with the union and the Authority's bargaining with the Union was not a waiver of the right to unilaterally implement the return to work and coronavirus requirements, J.A. 14-5.

On May 31, 2022, Local 872 filed a petition for review in Superior Court, J.A.

3. On October 7, 2022, Local 872 filed a brief, in support of the petition, stating the Authority was an independent agency, not subject to the authority of the Mayor of the District of Columbia; stating PERB's ruling was a violation of law because no authority existed to impose a vaccination requirement; stating the public emergency had expired when the Authority began negotiations over a vaccination requirement; stating the COVID-19 Emergency Act and D.C. Code § 1-

617.08(a)(6) did not authorize unilateral implementation of a vaccination requirement and return to work requirements; and stating the decision violated PERB rules which required a written declaration of negotiability, prior to an impasse determination, J.A. 21-4.

On February 14, 2023, Judge Matini affirmed the PERB opinion and dismissed the petition for review. Judge Matini ruled the vaccination requirement was not raised by Local 872 before PERB, J.A. 9; ruled PERB's interpretation of the negotiability issue was reasonable, consistent with statutory authority, and not clearly erroneous; and ruled the COVID-19 Emergency Act amended D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a)(6) giving management unilateral authority to implement changes, without bargaining with the union, during an emergency, J. A. 9-11.

Summary of the Argument

The Authority, an independent agency of the District of Columbia government, was not authorized under the COVID-19 Emergency Act or D.C. Code 1-617.08(a)(6) to unilaterally implement return to work requirements or vaccination requirements. An issue raised before PERB is subject to review on appeal. Management is required to raise an issue of negotiability, prior to a determination of impasse by PERB.

Standard of Review

In reviewing a decision of an administrative agency, the court examines the factual findings, to determine whether the findings are supported by substantial evidence and not clearly erroneous as a matter of law, *Doctors Council of D.C.* General Hospital v. D.C. Public Employee Relations Board, 914 A.2d. 682, 695 (D.C. 2007), aff'd. Fraternal Order of Police, Dep't of Corrections Labor Committee v. D.C. Public Employee Relations Board, 973 A.2d 174, 176 (D.C. 2009). The court will defer to the administrative agency on legal issues, unless the interpretation is unreasonable, in light of prevailing law or inconsistent with the statutes, *Doctors Council*, 914 A.2d 695-6. An administrative determination showing a misconception of the relevant law or a faulty application of the law cannot be affirmed, id. The judiciary is the final authority, for interpretation of the Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act (CMPA), American Federation of Government Employees, National Office v. D.C. Public Employee Relations Board, 237 A.3d. 81, 87 (D.C. 2020).

Argument

I. The COVID-19 Emergency Act Did Not Amend The CMPA

The D.C. Public Emergency Act of 1980, D.C. Code § 7-2301 et. seq. governs emergency actions, in the District of Columbia government. The District of Columbia Home Rule Act, sets out the powers and duties of the Mayor and the

D.C. Council, D.C. Code §§ 1-204.12 and 1-204.22. D.C. Code §1-204.12 reserves, to the D.C. Council, the right to enact emergency legislation, *District of Columbia v. Washington Home Ownership Council*, 415 A.2d. 1349, 1351-2 (D.C. 1980). D.C. Code § 7-2304 provides authority, to the Mayor of the District, to issue orders to regulate public emergencies and outlines the scope and actions, which may be taken by the Mayor. Subsection 7-2304(b) outlines specific actions permitted to be taken by the Mayor. Emergency executive orders, of the Mayor, expire after fifteen days, unless emergency legislation is adopted by the D.C. Council, D.C. Code § 7-2306(a) and (b).

On March 17, 2020, the D.C. Council enacted emergency legislation to address the coronavirus pandemic. The COVID-19 Response Emergency Amendment Act of 2020, declared a public emergency in the District of Columbia. The COVID-19 Emergency Act amended subsection 7-2304(b), by adding a new subparagraph (16), which listed specific actions the Mayor was authorized to take, during the coronavirus public emergency, notwithstanding the requirements and rules of the CMPA. The actions listed included redeploying employees, modifying tours of duty and places of duty, mandating telework, extending and assigning shifts, providing meals or requiring employees to work without a meal break, assigning additional duties, extending terms of employees, hiring new employees, eliminating annuity offsets, and denying leave and rescinding previously approved

leave.

D.C. Office of Labor Relations and Collective Bargaining v. D.C. Public Employee Relations Board, No. 003086 P(MPA) (D.C. Super. Ct. September 29, 2021), ruled:

PERB's interpretation of the COVID Emergency Act is incorrect because the plain language of the statute removes the personnel actions *listed* [my emphasis] in § 7-2304(b)(16) from the scope of the CMPA and relieves petitioners of any obligation under the CMPA to bargain impact and effects of these management decisions. * * * The Court's role is limited to determining whether PERB correctly interpreted the COVID Emergency Response Act,

OLRCB v. P.E.R.B. Slip Opinion, pp. 4-5, 8.

The court noted: "The Court agrees with petitioners . . . because the statute whose interpretation is at issue is not the CMPA but the COVID Emergency Act. . . . [B]ecause the COVID Emergency Act unambiguously makes the CMPA inapplicable when management takes the personnel actions listed specified in §7-2304(b)(16) to address an emergency. . . .," *id at 4*.

The CMPA was not amended by the COVID-19 Emergency Act. *OLRCB* held the specific acts listed, when taken by the Mayor, were exempt from coverage under the CMPA. In this case, Judge Matini relied upon *OLRCB*. *OLRCB*, specifically, states the CMPA was not interpreted or applied in interpreting the COVID-19 Emergency Act authorized unilateral actions, by the Mayor. The *OLRCB* decision did not amend the CMPA and specifically

excluded consideration of the CMPA, in ruling on the COVID-19 Emergency Act. On July 24, 2021, the Mayor issued an order ending the public health emergency for the coronavirus, *Addendum*. No public emergency existed when PERB issued Opinion 1811, authorizing the Authority to take unilateral actions to implement return to work requirements and vaccination requirements.

Judge Matini's decision, in error, stated the COVID-19 Emergency Act included covered entities of the District of Columbia and authorized management to take whatever actions were necessary to address the coronavirus emergency, J.A. 8. The D.C. Water and Sewer Authority Enabling Act established the D.C. Water and Sewer Authority (WASA) as an independent agency, that is not subject to the CMPA, except for Subchapter XVII, D.C. Code §§ 34-2202.02(a) and 34-22-2205.15 (a)(1). The Authority is not subject to the personnel rules and authority of the Mayor of the District of Columbia. D.C. Water and Sewer Authority v. Delon Hamption & Assoc. 851 A.2d. 411, 416 (D.C. 2004) following Dingwall v. D.C. Water and Sewer Authority, 766 A.2d. 974, 977-8 (D.C. 2001), held the Authority is a separate entity from the District of Columbia government and not included in the term when referring to the District or District of Columbia government, (cited favorably in *Moore v. D.C. Water and Sewer Authority C.A.* No. 18-cv-00657, D.D.C. 2018). Including the Authority, as a covered entity under the COVID-19 Emergency Act and permitting the unilateral taking of personnel

actions, by the Authority, is a clear error of law. The specific language of the act limited the taking of the actions to the Mayor. Nothing in the COVID-19 Emergency Act leads to a conclusion that the actions could be taken by a District of Columbia entity, other than the Mayor.

Judge Matini committed an error of law by upholding PERB's Opinion that the COVID-19 Emergency Act amended the CMPA and authorized the unilateral implementation of work requirements and vaccination requirements, as a management right.

II. The Expiration of the Public Emergency and Vaccination Requirements Were Before PERB

On October 15, 2021, Local 872 filed a request for impasse resolution, with PERB, J.A. 95-103. The issues, in the petition, included Safe Workplace, Avoidance of Working in Close Quarters, Notice of COVID-19, Notice of confirmed COVID-19, Telework and Shift Change, Notice regarding vaccination requirement, Vaccine Cost and Testing, Exemption, Proof of vaccination, and Discipline, *id.* Local 872 and the Authority agreed the parties were at impasse, in the negotiations, J.A. 132. The Executive Director referred the parties to mediation, *id.* After mediation was unsuccessful, Local 872 requested PERB refer the parties to interest arbitration, J.A. 72. On January 13, 2022, PERB's Executive Director, administratively, dismissed Local 872's impasse petition, holding *OLRCB v. D.C. PERB* amended the CMPA and permitted the Authority to take unilateral

action on work requirements and vaccination requirements, during the public emergency, J.A. 82-3. On January 25, 2022, Local 872 filed a motion to reconsider the administrative dismissal, J.A. 84-9. Local 872 stated the dismissal was in error because the public emergency had expired on July 25, 2021 and no statutory emergency authority existed for the unilateral implementation of the return to work and vaccination requirements, *id* at 86-8. Local 872's motion for reconsideration specifically stated:

"The Administrative Dismissal, in error, states the return to work, leave, the vaccine, and other working conditions issues for the coronavirus pandemic are management rights which may be unilaterally implemented, in emergencies. In order for a subject to be covered under the provisions of the 1980- Public Emergency Act, D.C. Code § 7-2304, the Mayor must issue an order which conforms with the actions authorized by the 1980 Public Emergency Act. On July 24, 2021, the Mayor issued Executive Order 2021-096 ending the public health emergency, on July 25, 2021.

WASA was under no statutory emergency authority, when the parties, in this case, entered into negotiations for the vaccine requirement and for the return to work of employees, at WASA. The Administrative Dismissal, in error, relies upon the ruling in *OLRCB v. P.E.R.B*, which does not apply, because the ruling covers only agencies, subordinate to the Mayor.

J.A. 87.

D.C. Metropolitan Police Dept v. D.C. Public Employee Relations Board, 282

A.3d. 598, 605 (D.C. 2022), ruled a court may only decline to consider an argument, if it was not first presented before PERB. Local 872 raised, before PERB, the expiration of the public emergency and the lack of statutory emergency

authority to implement return to work requirements and vaccination requirements. Judge Matini's decision, in error, held the matter was not raised before PERB. The failure of PERB to address Local 872's issue is not determinative. As ruled in *Metropolitan Police*, the party must raise the issue before the administrative agency. Here, Local 872 raised the issue and PERB failed to rule upon the issue. Local 872 raised its argument before the Superior Court and the court's dismissal of Local 872's challenge to the statutory emergency authority, to implement the work requirements and vaccination, is an error of law.

III. Changes In Working Conditions Are Negotiable Subjects For Bargaining

On December 7, 2021, the Authority filed a motion to dismiss, asserting no negotiable issue was in dispute and the proposals, before PERB, were a management right, J.A. 74-8. PERB Rule 532.2 requires a written statement of negotiability be provided, during negotiations, J.A. 29. The Authority had not declared any of the proposals non-negotiable, during negotiations, J.A. 116-131.

The management rights listed in D.C. Code § 1-617.08(a) are permissive subjects of bargaining and PERB's jurisdiction to decide negotiability issues is invoked only by a party submitting to PERB a proposal which has been declared nonnegotiable, *Fraternal Order of Police/Protective Services Police Department Labor Committee and Dept. of General Services*, Case No 15-N-04, 62 D.C. Reg. 16505. Slip Op. *1551*, pp. 1-2 (2015). A negotiability appeal and the context of the

appeal is determined by the party submitting the appeal, not the party declaring the matter nonnegotiable, *id*. PERB Rule 532.1 requires a party send a written communication declaring a proposal nonnegotiable.

Local 639 et. al. v. District of Columbia, et. al., 631 A.2d. 1205, (D.C. 1993) set out the requirements for PERB's determination of issues of negotiability. Local 639 v. District of Columbia, upheld PERB's opinion in Teamsters Local 639 and 730 and D.C. Public Schools, Case No. 90-N-01, 39 D.C. Reg. 5992, Slip Opinion No. 299 (1992), which ruled no issue of negotiability was established because management had not declared any issues non-negotiable, during negotiations. Management must establish the union was notified, under PERB rules, that a proposal was nonnegotiable, Local 639 at 631 A.2d 1205. A party may not proceed through negotiations and impasse proceedings and declare a proposal non-negotiable, after the period for asserting negotiability has lapsed, id. In this case, the assertion Local 872's proposal was non-negotiable, occurred after PERB declared the parties were at impasse and after mediation had been completed, J.A. 72-3. Judge Matini's decision that PERB's determination on negotiability was reasonable and consistent with the law, is erroneous. The record in this case showed the Authority did not make any declaration of negotiability, during negotiation or prior to impasse being determined

by PERB. The Executive Director's dismissal, of the impasse petition, was contrary to the law and PERB rules. Judge Matini's decision and Opinion 1811 must be reversed.

Conclusion

Local 872 respectfully requests, based upon the foregoing, the February 14, 2023 order be reversed; *Opinion* 1811 be reversed and this matter be remanded to PERB, with direction to take action to issue a decision requiring the Authority bargain over the return to work requirements and coronavirus requirements.