## **CASE NO. 23-CV-185** (2022 CA 002435 P(MPA))



# Clerk of the Court DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS Received 12/04/2023 09:33 AM Resubmitted 12/04/2023 10:47 AM Filed 12/04/2023 10:47 AM

## AMERICAN FEDERATION OF GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO, LOCAL 872,

## APPELLANT,

V.

### D.C. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RELATIONS BOARD, et al.,

## APPELLEES.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA SUPERIOR COURT, CIVIL DIVISION THE HONORABLE SHANA FROST MANTINI

#### BRIEF OF APPELLEE D.C. WATER AND SEWER AUTHORITY

Date: December 4, 2023 Tina M. Maiolo, #405987

Stephen G. Rutigliano, #90004378

CARR MALONEY P.C.

2000 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Suite 8001

#### I. ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Rule 28(j) of the Rules of the District of Columbia Court of Appeals, D.C. Water and Sewer Authority endorses, joins, and incorporates and adopts Appellee D.C. Public Employee Relations Board's brief in its entirety.

#### II. CONCLUSION

Both PERB's and the Superior Court's decisions are supported by the evidence and are not clearly erroneous. AFGE's subject disagreement is insufficient to support overturning the ruling below. Accordingly, D.C. Water and Sewer Authority respectfully requests that PERB's decision be affirmed.

Date: December 4, 2023 D.C. WATER AND SEWER AUTHORITY

By Counsel

### /s/Tina M. Maiolo

Tina M. Maiolo, #405987
Stephen G. Rutigliano, #90004378
Carr Maloney P.C.
2000 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Suite 8001
Washington, D.C. 20006
(202) 310-5500 (Telephone)
(202) 310-5555 (Facsimile)
Tina.Maiolo@carrmaloney.com
Stephen.Rutigliano@carrmaloney.com

## **CERTIFICATE OF FILING AND SERVICE**

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on December 4, 2023, I filed the Response Brief and of Appellee D.C. Water and Sewer Authority was filed and served through this Court's electronic filing system to:

Barbara B. Hutchinson, Esq. bbhattync@gmail.com

Geoffrey H. Simpons, Esq. gsimpson@websterfredrickson.com

/s/Tina M. Maiolo
Tina M. Maiolo

#### REDACTION CERTIFICATE DISCLOSURE FORM

Pursuant to Administrative Order No. M-274-21 (filed June 17, 2021), this certificate must be filed in conjunction with all briefs submitted in all cases designated with a "CV" docketing number to include Civil I, Collections, Contracts, General Civil, Landlord and Tenant, Liens, Malpractice, Merit Personnel, Other Civil, Property, Real Property, Torts and Vehicle Cases.

I certify that I have reviewed the guidelines outlined in Administrative Order No. M-274-21 and Super. Ct. Civ. R. 5.2, and removed the following information from my brief:

- 1. All information listed in Super. Ct. Civ. R. 5.2(a); including:
  - An individual's social-security number
  - Taxpayer-identification number
  - Driver's license or non-driver's' license identification card number
  - Birth date
  - The name of an individual known to be a minor
  - Financial account numbers, except that a party or nonparty making the filing may include the following:
    - (1) the acronym "SS#" where the individual's social-security number would have been included;
    - (2) the acronym "TID#" where the individual's taxpayer-identification number would have been included;
    - (3) the acronym "DL#" or "NDL#" where the individual's driver's license or non-driver's license identification card number would have been included;
    - (4) the year of the individual's birth;
    - (5) the minor's initials; and
    - (6) the last four digits of the financial-account number.

- 2. Any information revealing the identity of an individual receiving mental-health services.
- 3. Any information revealing the identity of an individual receiving or under evaluation for substance-use-disorder services.
- 4. Information about protection orders, restraining orders, and injunctions that "would be likely to publicly reveal the identity or location of the protected party," 18 U.S.C. § 2265(d)(3) (prohibiting public disclosure on the internet of such information); *see also* 18 U.S.C. § 2266(5) (defining "protection order" to include, among other things, civil and criminal orders for the purpose of preventing violent or threatening acts, harassment, sexual violence, contact, communication, or proximity) (both provisions attached).
- 5. Any names of victims of sexual offenses except the brief may use initials when referring to victims of sexual offenses.
- 6. Any other information required by law to be kept confidential or protected from public disclosure.

| /s/ Tina M. Maiolo | 23-CV-185        |
|--------------------|------------------|
| Signature          | Case Number(s)   |
| Tina M. Maiolo     | December 4, 2023 |
| Name               | Date             |
|                    |                  |

<u>Tina.Maiolo@carrmaloney.com</u> Email Address